ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

JUN 20 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Kershaw County

Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

ROBERT CANNON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002143

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did trial counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence of Petitioner's alibi violate Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments were the prosecution presented no physical evidence linking Petitioner to the crime?
- II. Did trial counsel's failure to move for a mistrial and object to the trial judge's charge when the jury revealed it was deadlocked on one count against Petitioner and additional deliberations would not assist violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?
- III. Did trial counsel's failure to object to the trial judge's erroneous admission of gruesome photographs where the danger of unfair prejudice outweighed the probative value of the photographs violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel?

STATEMENT

Zack Waltemath¹ and his sister Molly worked at Sonic. App. 568, ll. 12-25; App. 730, l. 19 - App. 731, l. 9. Molly and Melissa Davy, who also worked at Sonic, were best friends. App. 570, l. 23 – App. 571, l. 6; App. 731, ll. 16-25. Melissa and Joshua Zoch were in an abusive and volatile relationship. App. 588, l. 25 - App. 589, l. 3; App. 756, ll. 1-3; App. 772, ll. 6-14. Early Saturday morning, Melissa and Zoch argued because Zoch was using drugs, specifically crack cocaine, in the house. App. 732, l. 13 – App. 733, l. 11; App. 741, ll. 3-25; App. 756, l. 16 - App. 757, l. 17; App. 786, l. 11 - App. 787, l. 15. Melissa left with Molly and Zack and stayed at their house from Saturday, until Wednesday. App. 573, l. 18 – App. 572, l. 10; App. 733, ll. 10-11. After work on Wednesday, Zack, Molly, and Melissa went to get some stuff from Zoch’s home. App. 581, ll. 1-7; App. 735, ll. 15-19; App. 765, ll. 2-8. Melissa walked into the home and found Zoch, who had been beaten to death. App. 581, ll. 1-7. Melissa freaked out and called 911. App. 581, ll. 1-11; App. 736, ll. 3-23; App. 742, ll. 9-22; App. 765, l. 21 – App. 767, l. 14.

The investigation zeroed in on Petitioner, Christopher Whitehead, and Derrick McDonald, when the police learned from Allen Brown, an employee at Sonic, that Petitioner and the co-defendants, who also worked at Sonic, had been at Sonic around 10 p.m. on December 12, and that Petitioner had been wearing a ski mask. App. 513, line 1 – App. 515, line 10. Thereafter, the police interrogated the two teenagers - Petitioner and McDonald – securing “confessions.” App. 917, line 6 – App. 947, line 12; App. 949, line 8 – App. 970, line 3.

On February 7, 2007, a Kershaw County grand jury indicted Petitioner for burglary in the first degree and murder. App. 2101-2102; App. 2104-2015. On May 6-13, 2008, the state, represented by John Meadors, Joanna McDuffie, and Ron Moak, called the case to trial before the

¹ At the time of the trial, Zack and Melissa were dating. App. 588, ll. 21-24.

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., and a jury. App. 191. Petitioner stood trial with two co-defendants, Whitehead, represented by Marcus Whitlark and Nathan Sheldon, and McDonald, represented by Neil Riley and David Reuwer. App. 191. Joshua Kendrick represented Petitioner. App. 191. Ultimately, the jury convicted Petitioner, McDonald, and Whitehead of murder and burglary in the first degree. App. 1695, l. 17-25; App. 1696, ll. 10-15. Judge Cooper sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of thirty-five years' imprisonment. App. 1744, l. 18-21; App. 1744, l. 24 – App. 1745, l. 3; App. 2103; App. 2106.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, and was represented by Melissa J. Kimbrough. App. 1776-1794. Petitioner raised three issues: (1) the admissibility of his statement, (2) the late disclosure of material evidence, and (3) the introduction of unfairly prejudicial photographs. App. 1776-1794. The Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions and sentences. State v. Cannon, 2011-UP-267 (Ct. App. filed June 8, 2011); App. 1831-1832.²

On February 9, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1834-1840. Petitioner amended his application on March 12, 2014. App. 1849-1853. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on March 17, 2014, before the Honorable Alison Renee Lee. App. 1855. Tara Shurling represented Petitioner, and Megan Jameson represented the state. App. 1855. By an order dated September 14, 2015, Judge Lee denied Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 2070-2100. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition follows.

² Petitioner's co-defendants appealed the introduction of the redacted statements. In both cases, the Court of Appeals found no error. See State v. McDonald, 400 S.C. 272, 734 S.E.2d 167 (Ct. App. 2012); State v. Whitehead, Op. No. 2012-UP-526 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 12, 2012). However, this Court held the redacted statements violated the Confrontation Clause where the jury would readily infer they referred to and incriminated the co-defendants. Nevertheless, this Court held the errors were harmless. State v. McDonald, 412 S.C. 133, 135, 771 S.E.2d 840, 841 (2015); State v. Whitehead, 2015-MO-033 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 10, 2015).

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence of Petitioner's alibi violated Petitioner's right to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments were the prosecution presented no physical evidence linking Petitioner to the crime.

Relevant facts

Trial evidence

In December 2006, Cosmo Baccomo lived near the deceased in Kershaw County. App. 528, ll. 15-23. On December 12, 2006, Baccomo took his son's dog out for a walk at 11:25 p.m. App. 529, l. 12 – App. 530, l. 14. While walking the dog, Baccomo heard a noise, like kicking or slamming, but he could not see anything. App. 530, ll. 16-19. Baccomo and the dog returned inside. App. 530, ll. 19-20. About ten minutes later, Baccomo heard another noise – people talking and a door slamming. App. 530, l. 20 – App. 531, l. 13. Baccomo also saw headlights of a small car. App. 530, l. 24; App. 534, ll. 8-14. He heard “a car spun down the road, spun out, went up the street.” App. 530, l. 25 – App. 531, l. 1.

According to Dr. Joel Sexton, the pathologist, Zoch died as a result of cerebral contusion due to a closed head injury blunt head trauma. App. 1319, ll. 2-5. Specifically, Zoch was hit at least six times in the head and each were capable of causing death. App. 1288, ll. 5-8. The police told Dr. Sexton they believed Zoch died during the early morning hours of December 13, 2006, and Dr. Sexton concurred. App. 1329, ll. 5-24. When asked for a narrower or more specific window of time, Dr. Sexton would say only sometime between midnight and six in the morning. App. 1330, ll. 2-4. Additionally, Dr. Sexton could not say how long a person with the types of injuries the deceased received would live after the fatal blow. App. 1318, l. 1 – App. 1319, l. 1. He explained

the person would be immediately unconscious after the fatal blow, but may live for minutes, hours, or even days. App. 1381, ll. 16-21.

PCR hearing evidence

Petitioner informed trial counsel that he had an alibi. App. 1872, ll. 1-2. Specifically, he told trial counsel that between the hours of 11:00 and 12:00, he was “in Columbia next door to [his] mother’s house at [his] other neighbors’ house who were having a party.” App. 1872, ll. 3-7. However, while attending the party, Petitioner “was constantly in and out” of his mother’s house, “[u]sing the restroom, grabbing cups of ice.” App. 1873, l. 21 – App. 1874, l. 4. He saw his mother during these times and spoke to her. App. 1874, ll. 8-13. He advised trial counsel accordingly. App. 1874, ll. 14-16. Additionally, Petitioner told trial counsel that he left the party and went to stay with his then-girlfriend Ember Blow, arriving at her house shortly after midnight. App. 1878, ll. 2-24. During the trial, trial counsel told Petitioner he was not going to present any evidence – including evidence of an alibi – because he did not want to lose “the last say-so in the closing arguments.” App. 1879, l. 16 – App. 1880, l. 6.

According to Petitioner’s mother, Veronica Davis, on the night of the decedent’s death, Petitioner was at the neighbor’s party. App. 1939, l. 15 – App. 1940, l. 1; App. 1940, ll. 7-10. She noticed that Petitioner was “in and out of the house” and used the bathroom several times. App. 1940, ll. 2-4; App. 1940, ll. 16-23. She told Petitioner that he had to “stay in or stay out.” App. 1940, ll. 5-6. This happened between 11:00 p.m. and 11:45 p.m. App. 1944, ll. 16-17. Davis could not pinpoint the exact time, but explained that her husband worked third shift at the time and she was waiting on him to call during his lunch break at 11:45 p.m. App. 1944, l. 6 – App. 1945, l. 4. Petitioner decided he was “staying out” and going to Ember’s. App. 1941, ll. 13-20. Davis told trial counsel’s investigator of her ability to account of Petitioner’s whereabouts during the time in

question prior to trial. App. 1948, l. 22 – App. 1949, l. 1; App. 1951, ll. 18-24. Additionally, Davis told trial counsel after the trial hearing that she could say where Petitioner was. App. 1953, ll. 11-20.

Petitioner arrived at Ember Blow's house between midnight and 12:30 on the night of the decedent's death. App. 2027, l. 21 – App. 2028, l. 20. Petitioner stayed the rest of the night with her. App. 2028, ll. 21-22. She took him home "about 6, 6:15" because her mother got off work at 7:00 a.m., and Petitioner had to be gone before her mother arrived home. App. 2028, l. 24 – App. 2029, l. 2. Blow was not contacted by Petitioner's trial counsel or investigator, but if she had been, she would have been willing to testify on behalf of Petitioner. App. 2030, l. 20 – App. 2031, l. 2; App. 2034, ll. 12-14.

Trial counsel admitted that he did not "clearly remember why or when" he "specifically decided alibi wasn't gonna work." App. 1966, ll. 22-25. However, he thought "the problem with the alibi was that it did not cover necessarily the time that this happened." App. 1966, l. 25 – App. 1967, l. 2. Trial counsel directed his investigator to interview Davis and the neighbors. App. 1967, ll. 11-12. After an unspecified discussion with his investigator, trial counsel "decided not to pursue an alibi defense." App. 1967, ll. 15-16; App. 1986, ll. 4-23. Trial counsel was not familiar with Blow at all; however, based on her testimony during the PCR hearing, he said he would not have been "interested in using her as an alibi witness." App. 1967, ll. 17-23; App. 2014, l. 23 – App. 2015, l. 5. According to trial counsel, Blow's testimony would not have covered the time necessary. App. 1967, l. 24 – App. 1968, l. 7. Later, trial counsel reiterated that he did not think Petitioner had an alibi defense because the witnesses did not cover the time "well enough." App. 1985, ll. 2-8; App. 1988, ll. 4-17; App. 2008, ll. 4-13. On this point, trial counsel was forced to admit the pathologist put the time of death at some time during the early morning hours. App. 1999, ll. 17-20.

Specifically, the doctor testified the death occurred “sometime between midnight and six in the morning.” App. 2016, ll. 3-23. However, the state’s theory at trial was the assault occurred around 11:30 p.m. App. 2024, l. 19 – App. 2025, l. 3.

Trial counsel admitted that it was “highly likely” that he told Petitioner he was not going to present any evidence because he “wanted last argument.” App. 1984, ll. 11-13. Trial counsel stated he would not “do that now” because he no longer “care[s] about the last argument. App. 1984, ll. 13-14. However, “at that time against that solicitor, that may have been a concern.” App. 1984, ll. 14-15.

Order denying relief

According to the PCR judge, trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to present evidence of Petitioner’s alibi in the form of testimony from his mother and ex-girlfriend or in failing to give the state notice of an alibi defense (Allegations 3, 4, and 9). The PCR court found “no error” in trial counsel’s decision not to pursue an alibi defense “[b]ased upon the timeline of events presented at trial, Davis’ testimony, and Kendrick’s testimony.” App. 2088. Concerning Blow’s ability to provide an alibi, the Court likewise found no error “[b]ased upon the timeline of events presented at trial, Blow’s testimony, and Kendrick’s testimony.” App. 2088-2089. Additionally, the PCR court held Petitioner could not establish prejudice resulting from trial counsel’s failure to investigate and present the alibi witnesses and defense. App. 2087-2089; App. 2093.

Discussion

“The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance

was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

Without question, a trial attorney “has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691). “One component of that duty is to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, and the failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable.” Id. This Court has held that if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy and the strategy used satisfies an objective standard of reasonableness, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992); Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995).

In Walker, 407 S.C. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147, this Court held trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to interview Walker’s girlfriend regarding Walker’s whereabouts on the night of the alleged kidnapping and sexual assault. At the PCR hearing, Walker’s girlfriend testified that when she was dating Walker, which included the time of the alleged

kidnapping and sexual assault, the two spent every weekend together. Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. This Court acknowledged that the girlfriend’s “testimony was not as clear as it could have been, due in part to the passage of five years, one viable interpretation of it was that Walker spent the night of March 2 with her.” Id. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Thus, “it would be physically impossible for Walker to have committed the kidnapping and assaults.” Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147.

According to the state’s theory at trial, Zoch received the fatal injuries on December 12, 2006, between 11:30 p.m. and midnight based upon the testimony of Baccomo. Although his time of death could not be pinpointed, the pathologist concurred with the police that he died during the early morning hours – between midnight and 6:00 a.m. – on December 13, 2006. Thus, Petitioner’s alibi needed to account for his whereabouts between 11:30 p.m. on December 12, 2006, and 6:00 a.m. on December 13, 2006. The testimony of Davis and Blow did just that. According to Davis, Petitioner was in and out of her home in Columbia between 11:00 and 11:45 p.m. on December 12, 2006. Blow placed Petitioner at her home, also in Columbia, between midnight and 6:00 a.m. on December 13, 2006. In light of the murder occurring in Kershaw County, it would have been physically impossible for Petitioner to go to the deceased’s home in Elgin, participate in the crimes, and return to Blow’s home by midnight or even 12:30 a.m. Further, Blow placed Petitioner in her home until 6 a.m., which was the latest Dr. Sexton said Zoch would have died. Contrary to trial counsel’s testimony and the PCR judge’s conclusion, the timeline offered by the alibi witnesses actually covered the timeline of the crimes. Thus, trial counsel performed deficiently by failing to investigate and present evidence of Petitioner’s alibi defense. The only strategic reason offered at the PCR hearing – the ability to maintain last closing argument – was disavowed by trial counsel at the hearing when he testified that at the

time of the trial, when he was fairly unexperienced and trying his first murder case, he concerned himself with maintaining last argument, but he no longer had such a concern based on his greater experience.

In light of the fact that an alibi provides a complete defense, the prejudice resulting from trial counsel's deficient performance cannot be overstated. No physical evidence connected Petitioner to the crime. There were no eyewitnesses placing Petitioner at the crime scene, and the police recovered no forensic evidence that linked Petitioner to the crime. The only remaining evidence was Petitioner's statement to police. At first blush, his statement appears very damaging, but the presentation at trial blunted the damage considerably. Through the testimony of the investigators who interrogated Petitioner, the police captain who appeared at Petitioner's home during the interrogation, and the fact that Petitioner was not arrested immediately after the interrogation that resulted in an incriminating statement, it was readily apparent that Petitioner had been offered promises rendering his statement unreliable. Additionally, the jury deliberations, described more fully in Issue II, infra, demonstrate the struggle the jury had concerning the murder charge levied against Petitioner. The jury deadlocked on the charge after deliberating for hours, requesting additional instructions, and requesting transcripts of the majority of the testimony presented. Clearly, counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner.

II. In violation of Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel, trial counsel failed to move for a mistrial and object to the trial judge's charge when the jury revealed it was deadlocked on one count against Petitioner and additional deliberations would not assist.

Relevant facts

Trial evidence

The judge began instructing the jury at 6:54 p.m. on Friday, May 9, 2008. App. 1637, l. 11. The jury began its deliberations at 7:30 p.m. App. 1659, ll. 14-15. The jury requested a transcript of Investigator Danny Catoe's testimony. App. 1659, ll. 19-21. At 9:17 p.m., the judge instructed the jury that he could play back the testimony, which would take approximately four and a half hours or the jurors could get a transcript by 10 a.m. the following morning. App. 1662, ll. 1-23. The jury then informed the judge of their desire for transcripts of the testimony of Catoe, Investigator Phillip Crawford, and Michael Jenkins. App. 1664, ll. 10-12. The judge informed the jurors that the earliest the transcripts would be available would be Tuesday of the following week. App. 1664, ll. 25-33. The jury insisted on the transcripts and agreed to return on Tuesday, May 13, 2008. App. 1665, ll. 2-4. The judge released the jurors at 9:43 p.m., just over two hours after the deliberations began. App. 1666, l. 21.

On Tuesday morning, the jury asked to hear the jury instructions again. App. 1667, ll. 15-17. At 10:50 a.m., the judge instructed the jury yet again. App. 1668, l. 1 – App. 1686, l. 25. The jury began deliberating again at 11:10 a.m. App. 1687, l. 2. At 3:32 p.m., the jury informed the judge that unanimous verdicts had been reached on all indictments except for the murder indictment against Petitioner. App. 1689, ll. 1-6. The jury further stated that additional deliberation would not result in a verdict on that particular indictment. App. 1689, ll. 9-14. After a bench conference,

which was not transcribed, the judge gave the jury additional instructions and asked them to continue deliberating. App. 1689, l. 20 – App. 1693, l. 24. Specifically, starting at 3:43 p.m., the judge told the jurors:

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