STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Kershaw County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Alison Renee Lee, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 002143
Lower Court Case No. 2012-CP-28-0145

RECEIVED
DEC 12 2016
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ROBERT CANNON, #328347,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHANNA C. VALENZUELA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #79834

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3733

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

“The typical judicial mechanism for encouraging an indecisive jury is the Allen charge, in which jurors are instructed on, among other things, their duties to approach the evidence with

an open mind and consider the opinions of their fellow jurors.” State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 193, 600 S.E.2d 100, 103 (Ct. App. 2004). In giving the supplemental charge to the jury, a trial judge is permitted to encourage the jury to reach a verdict in a number of ways, including by advising the jurors in the majority and minority to consider each other views, by asking the jurors to give deference to one another’s opinions, by instructing the jurors to try to reach a decision if they are capable of doing so, and by explaining the high societal costs associated with the retrial of a case to the jury. See Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 501 (1896) (finding no error in a supplemental charge instructing that absolute certainty cannot be expected, that the verdict must be the verdict of each juror and not mere acquiescence in the views of the others, that they should examine the case with candor and give proper deference and regard to one another’s opinions, that they had a duty to decide the case if they could conscientiously do so, that they should listen to each other with a disposition to be convinced, and that they should consider the position of jurors holding a differing opinion); see also Nickles, 74 S.C. at 141-142, 54 S.E. at 268 (finding a supplemental jury charge was not coercive or erroneous where the jury was instructed the expenses associated with trying the case were a “very strong reason” the jury ought to get together and agree upon a verdict). Significantly, the presentation of such a supplemental charge “has long been sanctioned[,]” and, by providing such an instruction, a trial judge is merely discharging his duty to the public. Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988).

In reviewing an Allen charge to determine if the charge was unconstitutionally coercive, the appellate court must judge the charge in the proper context and under the totality of the circumstances. Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002). Factors that may be considered include: (1) whether the charge was specifically directed at minority jurors; (2)

whether the charge included any mandatory language about the necessity to return a verdict; (3) whether the trial judge made any inquiries into the jury's numerical division; and (4) how long the jury's deliberations lasted. Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 493-494, 552 S.E.2d 712, 717-718 (2001). It is not coercive for the trial judge to instruct the jury that every juror has a right to their own opinion, that no juror needs to surrender their opinion merely to reach an agreement, or that the failure to reach a verdict will result in additional costs. State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575-576 (1995); Ayers, 284 S.C. at 269, 325 S.E.2d at 581. Ultimately, reversal is not warranted as long as the trial judge's jury instructions as a whole are substantially correct and are not coercive. See State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996) ("A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal.").

Petitioner first argues that due to the jury indicating further deliberations would not be helpful in reaching a unanimous verdict, the Trial Court violated S.C. Code Section 14-7-1330. Petitioner also argues the Allen charge spoke directly and specifically to the minority jurors and insisted the jurors reach a decision and argues that in light of the "brevity of the deliberations after the Allen charge" and the "fact that the numerical division had been revealed," it was deficient of Trial Counsel not to move for a mistrial.

A. The Allen charge did not violate Section 14-7-1330 as the Trial Court instructed the jury after only the first time the jury indicated it was unable to reach a unanimous verdict.

First, the Trial Court gave the jury the Allen charge after the first time the jury indicated it had not agreed upon a verdict. According to Section 14-7-1330, after the first time "a jury, after due and thorough deliberation upon any cause, returns into court without having agreed upon a verdict, **the court may** state anew the evidence or any part of it and explain to it anew the

law applicable to the case and may **send it out for further deliberation.**” Section 14-7-1330 (emphasis added). It is only where a jury returns a “**second time** without having agreed upon a verdict” that they jury “shall not be sent out again without its own consent unless it shall ask from the court some further explanation of the law.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Because the jury in this case only returned into court without an agreed upon verdict once, the Court was not in violation of Section 14-7-1330 and any objection based upon this statute would have been overruled. Therefore, the PCR Court correctly found Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object pursuant to this statute and Petitioner suffered no prejudice.

B. The Allen charge was not unconstitutionally coercive; therefore, the PCR Court correctly found Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the charge and that there was no prejudice to Petitioner.

Furthermore, the trial judge’s Allen charge was not unconstitutionally coercive and Petitioner’s assertions to the contrary are without merit. The trial judge’s Allen charge was an even-handed admonition to both the majority and minority jurors, and no portion of the charge could reasonably be construed as being directed at any particular juror or position. (App. p. 1690, l. 1-p. 1693, l. 25.) See Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 195, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323-324 (2002) (finding the charge was neutral in its direction, not impermissibly aimed at the minority, instead suggesting members of each side examine their own position in light of the other view’s position); State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 598, 521 S.E.2d 500, 507 (1999) (“[T]he charge specifically instructs the majority to give ‘equal consideration to the views of the minority.’ Taken as a whole, this charge is an even-handed admonition to both the minority and majority jurors.”); cf. Workman v. State, 412 S.C. 128, 132, 771 S.E.2d 636, 639 (2015) (finding an Allen charge unconstitutionally coercive where the trial judge instructed that the minority should

consider the views of the majority but did not instruct that the majority should consider the views of the minority).

Second, the charge did not include any mandatory language telling the jurors they were **required** to reach a verdict and instead made clear that “no juror is expected to give up an opinion based on reasoning satisfactory to himself or herself merely for the purpose of being in agreement.” (App. p. 1693, ll. 15-18.).

Third, the judge made **no** inquiry into the jury’s numerical division. That the jurors indicated to the Court—improperly and not in response to any inquiry from the Court—the current count does not render the Court’s charge unconstitutionally coercive. See generally State v. Williams, 344 S.C. 260, 264, 543 S.E.2d 260, 263 (Ct. App. 2001) (an Allen charge is not coercive even where the trial judge does know the numerical division of the jurors before giving the charge).

Fourth and finally, the jurors deliberated for over an hour after the Allen charge was given. See Hale, 284 S.C. at 355, 326 S.E.2d at 422 (finding the judge’s Allen charge as a whole was not coercive even though the jury returned a verdict only three minutes after receiving the charge); State v. Tillman, 304 S.C. 512, 405 S.E.2d 607 (Ct. App. 1991) (rejecting the defendant’s argument that the Allen charge was coercive because the jury returned a verdict one hour and fifteen minutes after the charge was given); State v. Ayers, 284 S.C. 266, 268-69, 325 S.E.2d 579, 580-81 (Ct. App. 1985) (finding the trial judge’s instructions as a whole were not coercive where the jury returned a verdict two hours later); State v. Williams, 344 S.C. 260, 543 S.E.2d 260 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding Allen charge was not coercive where jury returned a verdict two hours and fifteen minutes after receiving the charge, where fifteen of those minutes were spent re-hearing testimony).

These factors, taken together, illustrate the Allen charge given in this case was not unconstitutionally coercive. The trial judge did not err in fulfilling his duty to encourage the jury to reach a verdict in Petitioner's case. Accordingly, the PCR Court did not err in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to move for a mistrial and that there was no prejudice to Petitioner.

III. Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR court correctly found Petitioner was unable to establish the failure to object to the admission of the photographs resulted in any prejudice where the photographs were more probative than prejudicial and where the evidence of Petitioner's guilt is overwhelming.

Petitioner claims Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to object and therefore preserve the issue for appeal regarding the admission of State's Exhibits 39, 92, 111, and 113-119¹³—crime scene photographs—because any probative value they had was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. However, there is no prejudice to Petitioner because the omission of the photographs would not have impacted the trial, particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt implicating Petitioner.

It is well settled that the relevance, materiality, and admissibility of photographs are left to the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 27. "If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it." State v. Nance, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996).

Even though relevant, evidence is to be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE. The balance of the danger of unfair prejudice against the probative value must be based on the entire record, and will turn on the facts of each case. State v. Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 27-28; State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct. App. 2008). As noted by our Supreme Court in Collins,

¹³ Petitioner concedes any challenge to State's Exhibit #37 based on the record showing Trial Counsel did object to the photo coming in. (Petition for Writ, p. 20 n.5.)

Courts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury, which is charged with the solemn duty of acting as the fact-finder. . . . it is the duty of courts and juries to examine the evidence in even the most unpleasant of circumstance[.]

409 S.C. at 535, 763 S.E.2d at 28. Just because photographs are gruesome—especially where they mirror the “unfortunate reality” of the case—they are not inadmissible. Id. “All evidence is meant to be prejudicial; it is only unfair prejudice which must be scrutinized under Rule 403.” State v. McGee, 408 S.C. 278, 289, 758 S.E.2d 730, 736 (Ct. App. 2014) (internal citations omitted).

Because the challenged photographs had high probative value and limited danger of unfair prejudice, it was clearly within the trial court’s discretion to admit them. See State v. Salley, 398 S.C. 160, 727 S.E.2d 740 (2012) (professional photograph of victim taken when she was alive because it substantiated pathologist’s testimony that her sickle cell trait was not outwardly apparent); State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 746 S.E.2d 495 (Ct. App. 2013) (no error in admission of autopsy photographs which corroborated pathologist’s testimony that victim’s injuries were inconsistent with accidental injury). The admission or exclusion of evidence is an action within the trial court’s sound discretion, and the trial court’s ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Salley, 398 S.C. at 169, 727 S.E.2d at 744. The trial court should exclude a photograph if it is calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury, or is irrelevant or unnecessary to substantiate facts, but there is no abuse of discretion if the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony. Salley, 398 S.C. at 170, 727 S.E.2d at 745; see also State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010) (same).

In Torres, the Supreme Court specifically held “autopsy photographs may be presented to the jury in an effort to show the circumstances of the crime and character of the defendant.” 703 S.E.2d at 229. The Court explained:

The doctor who performed the autopsy used the introduced photographs during his testimony to illustrate the number of injuries, location of the injuries, and manner in which the injuries were committed. We do not suggest that these autopsy photographs are mild and easy to view: some of the photographs are close-ups of the victims' injuries and are graphic in nature. However, the purpose of the close-ups was to help identify the nature of each particular injury. The net effect of the photographs was to show what Torres did to the Emervs, which goes straight to circumstances of the crime.

Id.

Petitioner cannot establish prejudice if the photographs at issue were not unduly prejudicial. While the photographs did reflect the gruesome reality of the crime, they were not unduly prejudicial and were relevant to the jury’s understanding of the evidence and issues in the case. After listening to Petitioner’s co-defendants objections and to the proffer and testimony of the state’s witness, the Trial Court overrule the co-defendants’ objections to the photographs at issue. The only exception was Exhibit 114, which came in without objection.

Here, the photographs were probative because they explained the type and extent of the injuries. The challenged photographs were also probative because they corroborated the testimony of the State's expert witness and forensic pathologist regarding the victim’s appearance and visible injuries. It was important for the jury to see the condition of Victim’s body at the time of his death and the nature and location of Victim’s injuries in order to understand the witnesses’ testimony as to his condition and the intentional nature of the infliction of the injuries. The state’s witness also explained why the photos were necessary even when drawings were available, stating the “drawings of the locations . . . are not as detailed as the photographs” (App. p. 1272, ll. 24-25); “it’s much more clear to the jury when you have detailed

photographs” (App. p. 1273, ll. 18-20); and the photographs were necessary to show the wounds were not self-inflicted (App. p. 1273, ll. 21-25), the “type of instrument that might have caused the injury,” and the “position of the body at the time the injury occurred” (App. p. 1274, ll.1-3.).

Exhibit 111 was necessary to show that “blood spatters [that] are directional, indicating the position of the body at the time at least one or more blows was rendered to the back of the head.” (App. p. 1276, ll. 4-8.) Exhibits 115 and 116 were necessary to show the injuries to the victim’s knees. (App. p. 1268, ll. 13-16.) Exhibit 117 showed blood on top of the victim’s socks and aided in “explaining to the jury the nature of these injuries . . . and what occurred at the residence.” (App. p. 1268, ll. 20-25.) Exhibit 118 was necessary to show “all the injuries of the back” versus the individual injuries (App. p. 1269, ll. 16-19), and Exhibits 118 and 119 to help explain the force that was used because the area behind the ear has the thickest bone and “that portion of the bone was broken into multiple little comminuted pieces as opposed to a single linear fracture.” (App. p. 1289, ll. 11-25.) Exhibits 113-114 were necessary to show the extent of the injuries to the victim’s face and whether those injuries were consistent with a “metal and glass potpourri bowl” that was found at the scene. (App. p. 1294, l. 1- p. 1295, ll. 22) Exhibit 39 was used to explain how the room and its furniture corresponded to the victim’s injuries, showing the direction of the spatter (App. p. 1304, ll. 20-25) and providing context for the other photographs that showed close ups of different sections of the scene (App. p. 1308, ll. 11-21). Exhibit 92 was used to show the “blood spatters going down to the back” and link back to the expert’s explanation of how “a head has to generally be fixed to render a fatal blow.” (App. p. 1312, ll. 5-13.)

Overwhelming Evidence

Furthermore, any error in failing to object to the photographs was harmless and, therefore, did not cause Petitioner any prejudice because of the overwhelming evidence presented against him at trial.

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